

Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited

## Pillar 3 Disclosures

For the period ended June 30, 2016

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Page No. Introduction 2 Capital Framework 5 Regulatory Capital 6 Risk-Weighted Assets 6 Credit Risk 7 Market Risk 11 Leverage Ratio 13 Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements 15

#### **INDEX OF TABLES**

	Page No.
Table 1: Minimum Regulatory Capital Ratios	5
Table 2: Regulatory Capital Ratios	6
Table 3: Regulatory Capital Resources	6
Table 4: Risk Weighted Assets	6
Table 5: IRB Approach Exposure Class	9
Table 6: Credit Risk Wholesale Exposure by IRB exposure class and by PD Band	
Table 7: Simple Risk Weights for Equity Exposures	
Table 8: Market Risk Capital Requirement	
Table 9: Leverage Ratio	
Table 10: Summary Reconciliation of Accounting Assets and Leverage Ratio Exposures	
Table 11: On-Balance Sheet Exposures	
Table 12: Leverage Ratio Common Disclosure	14

#### Introduction

#### Overview

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (Group Inc. or parent company), a Delaware corporation, together with its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, the firm), is a leading global investment banking, securities and investment management firm that provides a wide range of financial services to a substantial and diversified client base that includes corporations, financial institutions. governments and individuals. Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited (GSGUKL) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Group Inc.. When we use the terms "Goldman Sachs" and "the firm", we mean Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries and when we use the terms "GSGUK", "we", "us" and "our", we mean GSGUKL and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (Federal Reserve Board) is the primary regulator of Group Inc., a bank holding company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (BHC Act) and a financial holding company under amendments to the BHC Act. As a bank holding company, the firm is subject to consolidated regulatory capital requirements which are calculated in accordance with the revised risk-based capital and leverage regulations of the Federal Reserve Board, subject to certain transitional provisions.

GSGUK is supervised on a consolidated basis by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and as such is subject to minimum capital adequacy standards. Certain subsidiaries of GSGUK are regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the PRA and are subject to minimum capital adequacy standards also on a standalone basis.

The risk-based capital requirements are expressed as capital ratios that compare measures of regulatory capital to Risk-Weighted Assets (RWAs). Failure to comply with these requirements could result in restrictions being imposed by our regulators. GSGUK's capital levels are also subject to qualitative judgements by our regulators about components of capital, risk weightings and other factors.

For information on Group Inc.'s financial statements and regulatory capital ratios, please refer to the firm's most recent Quarterly Pillar 3 Disclosures and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. References in this document to the "Quarterly Pillar 3 Disclosures" are to the firm's Pillar 3 Disclosures for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, references to the "Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q" are to the firm's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016. All references to June 2016 refer to the period ended, or the date June 30, 2016 as the context requires. These forms can be accessed via the following links:

http://www.goldmansachs.com/investorrelations/financials/current/other-information/2q-pillar3-2016.pdf

http://www.goldmansachs.com/investorrelations/financials/current/10q/second-quarter-2016-10-q.pdf

The GSGUK consolidated regulatory capital requirement has been calculated in accordance with the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) and the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), collectively known as CRD IV, which came into effect on January 1, 2014. These regulations are largely based on the Basel Committee's final capital framework for strengthening international capital standards (Basel III), which is structured around three pillars: Pillar 1 "minimum capital requirements", Pillar 2 "supervisory review process" and Pillar 3 "market discipline". Certain provisions of CRD IV are directly applicable in the UK and certain provisions have been implemented in the PRA and FCA Rulebooks.

These quarterly Pillar 3 disclosures set out the qualitative and quantitative elements of Part 8 of the CRR within CRD IV, as supplemented by the PRA and FCA Rulebooks, for which we have determined that more frequent disclosure is appropriate in accordance with the EBA Guidelines under Articles 431(1), 432(2) and 433 of CRR. GSGUK also publishes annual Pillar 3 disclosures. The latest available published annual Pillar 3 disclosures can be accessed via the following link:

#### http://www.goldmansachs.com/disclosures/gsgukl-pillar-3-2015.pdf

Measures of exposures and other metrics disclosed in this report may not be based on UK generally accepted accounting principles (UK GAAP), may not be directly comparable to measures reported in financial statements, and may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. These disclosures are not required to be, and have not been, audited by our independent auditors.

#### **Basis of Consolidation**

GSGUKL is the holding company for a group that provides a wide range of financial services to clients located worldwide. The company's functional currency is US dollars and these disclosures are prepared in that currency.

The following six UK-regulated subsidiaries are included in the regulatory consolidation:

- Goldman Sachs International (GSI)
- Goldman Sachs International Bank (GSIB)
- Goldman Sachs Asset Management International
- Montague Place Custody Services<sup>1</sup>
- Goldman Sachs Asset Management Global Services Limited
- Goldman Sachs MB Services Limited

The scope of consolidation for regulatory capital purposes is consistent with the UK GAAP consolidation.

CRD IV requires significant subsidiaries to make certain capital disclosures on an individual or subconsolidated basis. The significant subsidiaries of GSGUK are GSI and GSIB. GSI is the firm's broker dealer in the Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) region and its risk profile is materially the same as GSGUK. GSIB is GSGUK's deposit-taking subsidiary. GSI and GSIB's results materially make up the results of GSGUK. Risk management policies and procedures are applied consistently to GSI, GSIB and to GSGUK as a whole. The remaining entities have minimal balance sheet activity and have not been determined material subsidiaries for the purposes of these Pillar 3 disclosures.

### Restrictions on the Transfer of Funds or Regulatory Capital within the Firm

Group Inc. is a holding company and, therefore, utilises dividends, distributions and other payments from its subsidiaries to fund dividend payments and other payments on its obligations, including debt obligations. Regulatory capital requirements as well as provisions of applicable law and regulations restrict Group Inc.'s ability to withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries. Within GSGUK, capital is provided by the UK parent level to subsidiary entities. Capital within the GSGUK Group is considered transferable to other entities within the GSGUK Group without any significant restriction except to the extent it is required for regulatory purposes.

For information about restrictions on the transfer of funds within Group Inc. and its subsidiaries, see "Note 20. Regulation and Capital Adequacy" in Part I, Item 1 "Financial Statements" and "Risk Management – Liquidity Risk Management" and "Equity Capital Management and Regulatory Capital" in Part I, Item 2 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in the firm's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

#### **Definition of Risk-Weighted Assets**

The risk weights that are used in the calculation of RWAs reflect an assessment of the riskiness of our assets and exposures. These risk weights are based on either predetermined levels set by regulators or on internal models which are subject to various qualitative and quantitative parameters that are subject to approval by our regulators. The relationship between available capital and capital requirements can be expressed in the form of a ratio, and RWAs are arrived at by multiplying capital requirements by 12.5. In this document, minimum capital requirements set out in Table 1 are expressed including the impact of additional buffers.

#### **Fair Value**

The inventory amounts reflected in our consolidated statements of financial condition as "financial instruments owned" and "financial instruments sold, but not yet purchased" as well as certain other financial assets and financial liabilities, are accounted for at fair value (i.e., marked-to-market), with related gains or losses generally recognised in our consolidated financial position and, therefore, in capital. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The use of fair value to measure financial instruments is fundamental to risk management practices and is our most critical accounting policy. The daily discipline of marking substantially all of our inventory to current market levels is an effective tool for assessing and managing risk and provides transparent and realistic insight into our financial exposures. The use of fair value is an important aspect to consider when evaluating our capital base and our capital ratios; it is also a factor used to determine the classification of positions into the banking book and trading book.

For additional information regarding the determination of fair value under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP) and controls over valuation of inventory, see "Note 3. Significant Accounting Policies" in Part I, Item 1 "Financial Statements" and "Critical Accounting Policies – Fair Value" in Part I, Item 2 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in the firm's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

#### **Banking Book / Trading Book Classification**

In order to determine the appropriate regulatory capital treatment for our exposures, positions must be first classified into either "banking book" or "trading book". Positions are classified as banking book unless they qualify to be classified as trading book.

Banking book positions may be accounted for at amortised cost, fair value or under the equity method; they are not generally positions arising from client servicing and market making, positions intended to be resold in the short term, or positions intended to benefit from actual or expected short-term price differences between buying and selling prices or from other price or interest rate variations<sup>1</sup>. Banking book positions are subject to credit risk capital requirements. Credit risk represents the potential for loss due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a counterparty (e.g., an OTC derivatives counterparty or a borrower) or an issuer of securities or other instruments that we hold.

Trading book positions generally meet the following criteria: they are assets or liabilities that are accounted for at fair value; they are risk managed using a Value-at-Risk (VaR) internal model; they are held as part of our marketmaking and underwriting businesses and are intended to be resold in the short term, or positions intended to benefit from actual or expected short-term price differences between buying and selling prices or from other price or interest rate variations<sup>1</sup>. Trading book positions are subject to market risk regulatory capital requirements, as are foreign exchange and commodity positions, whether or not they meet the other criteria for classification as trading book positions. Market risk is the risk of loss in the value of our inventory due to changes in market prices. Some trading book positions, such as derivatives, are also subject to counterparty credit risk capital requirements.

#### **Capital Framework**

#### **Capital Structure**

For CRD IV regulatory purposes, a company's total available capital has the following components:

- Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1), which is comprised of common shareholders' equity, after giving effect to deductions for disallowed items and other adjustments;
- Tier 1 capital which is comprised of CET1 capital and other qualifying capital instruments;
- Tier 2 capital, which is comprised of Tier 1 capital and includes long term qualifying subordinated debt; and

Certain components of our regulatory capital are subject to regulatory limits and restrictions under CRD IV. In general, to qualify as Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital, an instrument must be fully paid and unsecured. A qualifying Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital instrument must also be subordinated to all senior indebtedness of the organisation.

Under CRD IV, the minimum CET1, Tier 1 capital and Total capital ratios (collectively the Pillar 1 capital requirements) are supplemented by:

- A capital conservation buffer, consisting entirely of capital that qualifies as CET1, that phases in beginning on January 1, 2016, in increments of 0.625% per year until it reaches 2.5% of RWAs on January 1, 2019.
- A countercyclical capital buffer of up to 2.5% (and also consisting entirely of CET1) in order to counteract excessive credit growth. The buffer only applies to GSGUK's exposures to certain types of counterparties based in jurisdictions which have announced a countercyclical buffer. Since these exposures are not currently material, the buffer adds less than 0.01% to the capital ratio and has an immaterial impact on the capital of GSGUK. The countercyclical buffer applicable to GSGUK could change in the future and, as a result, the minimum ratios could increase.

On March 29, 2016, the UK Financial Policy Committee (FPC) announced an increase in the countercyclical capital buffer rate for private UK counterparties and issuers from 0% to 0.5%, effective beginning March 29, 2017. On July 5, 2016, the FPC reduced this buffer from 0.5% to 0% with immediate effect.

• Individual capital guidance under Pillar 2A (an additional amount to cover risks not adequately captured in Pillar 1). The PRA performs a periodic supervisory review of GSI's and GSIB's Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), which leads to a final determination by the PRA of individual capital guidance under Pillar 2A. This is a point in time assessment of the minimum amount of capital the PRA considers that an entity should hold.

#### **Overview of Ratios**

The risk-based capital requirements are expressed as capital ratios that compare measures of regulatory capital to RWAs. The CET1 ratio is defined as CET1 divided by RWAs. The Tier 1 capital ratio is defined as Tier 1 capital divided by RWAs. The total capital ratio is defined as total capital divided by RWAs.

The following table presents GSGUK's minimum required ratios as of June 2016.

#### Table 1: Minimum Regulatory Capital Ratios

	June 2016 Minimum ratio <sup>1</sup>
CET1 ratio	6.5%
Tier 1 capital ratio	8.5%
Total capital ratio	11.1%

1. Includes the phase-in of the capital conservation buffer and countercyclical capital buffer described above.

These minimum ratios incorporate the Pillar 2A capital guidance received from the PRA and could change in the future. In addition to the Pillar 2A capital guidance, the PRA also defines forward looking capital guidance which represents the PRA's view of the capital that GSGUK would require to absorb losses in stressed market conditions. This is known as Pillar 2B or the "PRA buffer" and is not reflected in the minimum ratios shown in Table 1 above. As the capital conservation buffer phases in, as described, it will fully or partially replace the PRA buffer.

As of June 30, 2016, all of GSGUK's regulated subsidiaries had capital levels in excess of their minimum regulatory capital requirement.

#### **Regulatory Capital**

The following table presents a breakdown of GSGUK's capital ratios under CRD IV as at June 30, 2016, including those for our significant subsidiaries GSI and GSIB.

#### **Table 2: Regulatory Capital Ratios**

\$ in millions	as of June 2016			
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB	
CET1 Capital	\$ 29,736	\$ 25,961	\$ 2,683	
Tier 1 Capital	29,736	25,961	2,683	
Tier 2 Capital	9,669	8,958	711	
Total Capital	39,405	34,919	3,394	
RWAs	\$ 241,652	\$ 222,689	\$ 12,480	
CET1 Ratio	12.3%	11.7%	21.5%	
Tier 1 Capital Ratio	12.3%	11.7%	21.5%	
Total Capital Ratio	16.3%	15.7%	27.2%	

In the table above, the CET1 ratio and Total capital ratio include approximately 43 basis points attributable to GSGUK's interim results for the six month period ended June 2016, and 46 basis points and 41 basis points attributable to GSI's and GSIB's results respectively.

Assets that are deducted from capital in computing the numerator of the capital ratios are excluded from the computation of RWAs in the denominator of the ratios. The following tables contain information on the components of our regulatory capital structure based on CRD IV, as implemented by the PRA.

#### **Table 3: Regulatory Capital Resources**

\$ in millions	as of June 2016			
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB	
CET1 Capital Before Deductions	\$ 30,866	\$ 27,415	\$ 2,859	
Regulatory Adjustments	(1,130)	(1,454)	(176) <sup>1</sup>	
CET1 Capital After Deductions	29,736	25,961	2,683	
Tier 1 Capital After Deductions	29,736	25,961	2,683	
Tier 2 Capital Before Deductions	9,784	8,958	826	
Regulatory Adjustments	(115)	-	(115) <sup>1</sup>	
Tier 2 Capital After Deductions	9,669	8,958 <sup>2</sup>	711	
Total Capital Resources	\$ 39,405	\$ 34,919	\$ 3,394	

1. Other Adjustments within the CET1 and Tier 2 capital of GSIB primarily represent the excess capital attributed to certain branch operations.

2. Tier 2 Capital represents subordinated debt with an original term to maturity of five years or greater. The outstanding amount of subordinated debt qualifying for Tier 2 Capital is reduced, or discounted, upon reaching a remaining maturity of five years.

#### **Risk-Weighted Assets**

CRD IV RWAs are calculated based on measures of credit risk, operational risk and market risk. The table below represents a summary of the capital requirements for GSGUK, GSI and GSIB by type (capital requirements can be converted to RWAs, under regulatory convention, by multiplying by 12.5).

#### Table 4: Risk Weighted Assets

\$ in millions	as of June 2016			
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB	
Credit Risk-Weighted Assets	\$ 137,010	\$ 126,783	\$ 5,803	
Market Risk-Weighted Assets	90,207	82,601	6,357	
Operational Risk-Weighted Assets	14,435	13,305	320	
Total Risk-Weighted Assets	\$ 241,652	\$ 222,689	\$ 12,480	

#### Credit Risk

#### Overview

Credit risk represents the potential for loss due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a counterparty (e.g. an Over-The-Counter (OTC) derivatives counterparty or a borrower) or an issuer of securities or other instruments we hold. Our exposure to credit risk comes mostly from client transactions in OTC derivatives and loans and lending commitments. Credit risk also comes from cash placed with banks, securities financing transactions (i.e., resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending activities) and receivables from brokers, dealers, clearing organisations, customers and counterparties.

Credit Risk Management, which is independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to the firm's Chief Risk Officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing credit risk. The Credit Policy Committee and the Firmwide Risk Committee establish and review credit policies and parameters. In addition, we hold other positions that give rise to credit risk (e.g., bonds held in our inventory). These credit risks are captured as a component of market risk measures, which are monitored and managed by Market Risk Management, consistent with other inventory positions. We also enter into derivatives to manage market risk exposures. Such derivatives give rise to counterparty credit risk which is monitored and managed by Credit Risk Management.

#### **Credit Risk Management Process**

Effective management of credit risk requires accurate and timely information, a high level of communication and knowledge of customers, countries, industries and products. The firm's process for managing credit risk includes:

- Approving transactions and setting and communicating credit exposure limits;
- Monitoring compliance with established credit exposure limits;
- Assessing the likelihood that a counterparty will default on its payment obligations;
- Measuring current and potential credit exposure and losses resulting from counterparty default;
- Reporting of credit exposures to senior management, the firm's Board and regulators;
- Use of credit risk mitigants, including collateral and hedging; and

• Communication and collaboration with other independent control and support functions such as operations, legal and compliance.

As part of the risk assessment process, Credit Risk Management performs credit reviews which include initial and ongoing analyses of the firm's counterparties. For substantially all credit exposures, the core of the process is an annual counterparty credit review. A credit review is an independent analysis of the capacity and willingness of a counterparty to meet its financial obligations, resulting in an internal credit rating. The determination of internal credit ratings also incorporates assumptions with respect to the nature of and outlook for the counterparty's industry, and the economic environment. Senior personnel within Credit Risk Management, with expertise in specific industries, inspect and approve credit reviews and internal credit ratings.

The firm's global credit risk management systems capture credit exposure to individual counterparties and on an aggregate basis to counterparties and their subsidiaries (economic groups). These systems also provide management with comprehensive information on the firm's aggregate credit risk by product, internal credit rating, industry, country and region.

#### **Credit Risk Measures and Limits**

The firm measures credit risk based on the potential loss in an event of non-payment by a counterparty using current and potential exposure. For derivatives and securities financing transactions, current exposure represents the amount presently owed after taking into account applicable netting and collateral arrangements while potential exposure represents the firm's estimate of the future exposure that could arise over the life of a transaction based on market movements within a specified confidence level. Potential exposure also takes into account netting and collateral arrangements. For loans and lending commitments, the primary measure of credit risk is a function of the notional amount of the position.

Credit limits are used at various levels (counterparty, economic group, industry, country) to control the size of the company's credit exposures. Limits for counterparties and economic groups are reviewed regularly and revised to reflect changing risk appetites for a given counterparty or group of counterparties. Limits for industries and countries are based on the company's risk tolerance and are designed to allow for regular monitoring, review, escalation and management of credit risk concentrations. For GS Group, the Risk Committee of the Board and the Risk Governance

Committee (through delegated authority from GS Group's Firmwide Risk Committee) approve credit risk limits at the GS Group, business and product levels. The GSI and GSIB Risk Committees approve the framework that governs the setting of credit risk limits at the entity level, and delegate responsibility for the ongoing execution and monitoring to the GSI Credit Committee and GSIB Chief Credit Officer respectively. Credit Risk Management sets credit limits for individual counterparties, economic groups, industries and countries. Policies authorised by GS Group's Firmwide Risk Committee, Risk Governance Committee and Credit Policy Committee prescribe the level of formal approval required for GS Group to assume credit exposure to a counterparty across all product areas, taking into account any applicable netting provisions, collateral or other credit risk mitigants

#### **Credit Risk RWAs**

Credit RWAs are calculated based upon measures of credit exposure which are then risk weighted. Set out below is a description of the methodology used to calculate RWAs for Wholesale exposures, which generally include credit exposures to corporates, sovereigns or government entities (other than securitisation or equity exposures). We have approval from the PRA to compute risk weights for certain exposures in accordance with the Advanced Internal Ratings Based (AIRB) approach which utilises internal assessments of each counterparty's creditworthiness, and the Internal Model Method (IMM) for the measurement of exposure on OTC derivative and securities financing transactions.

**Exposure at Default (EAD).** The exposure amount for onbalance-sheet assets, such as receivables and cash, is generally based on the balance sheet value. For the calculation of EAD for off-balance-sheet exposures, including commitments and guarantees, a credit equivalent exposure amount is calculated based on the notional amount of each transaction multiplied by a credit conversion factor in accordance with Article 166 of CRD IV.

GSGUK uses the IMM and the Mark To Market (MTM) methods to measure exposure for counterparty credit risk. For substantially all of the counterparty credit risk arising from OTC derivatives and securities financing transactions, internal models calculate the distribution of exposure upon which the EAD calculation is based, in accordance with the IMM. The models estimate Expected Exposures (EE) at various points in the future using risk factor simulations. The model parameters are derived from historical data using the most recent three-year period. The models also estimate the Effective Expected Positive Exposure (EEPE) over the first year of the portfolio, which is the time-weighted average of non-declining positive credit exposure over the EE simulation. EAD is calculated by multiplying the EEPE by a standard regulatory factor of 1.4.

As GSGUK calculates the majority of its credit exposure under the IMM, the impacts of netting and collateral are integral to the calculation of the exposure. The exposures disclosed below are presented on a net basis where there is a legally enforceable netting opinion.

Advanced IRB Approach. RWAs are calculated by multiplying EAD by the counterparty's risk weight. Under the Advanced IRB approach, risk weights are a function of the counterparty's Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and the maturity of the trade or portfolio of trades, where:

PD is an estimate of the probability that an obligor will default over a one-year horizon. For the majority of Wholesale exposures, the PD is assigned using an approach where quantitative factors are combined with a qualitative assessment to determine internal credit rating grades. For each internal credit rating grade, over 5 years of historical empirical data is used to calculate a long run average annual PD which is assigned to each counterparty.

Internal credit rating grades each have external public rating agency equivalents. The scale that is employed for internal credit ratings corresponds to those used by the major rating agencies and internal credit ratings, while arrived at independently of public ratings, are assigned using definitions of each internal credit rating grade that are consistent with the definitions used by the major rating agencies for their equivalent credit rating grades. As a result, default data published by the major rating agencies for obligors with public ratings can be mapped to counterparties with equivalent internal credit ratings for quantification and validation of risk parameters.

• LGD is an estimate of the economic loss rate if a default occurs during economic downturn conditions. For Wholesale exposures, the LGD is determined using recognised vendor models, but exposure-specific estimates of LGD are employed where the recovery prospects of an exposure are more accurately captured by an analysis incorporating information about the specific collateral, structure or type of client.

• The definition of maturity depends on the nature of the exposure. For OTC derivatives, maturity is an average time measure weighted by credit exposure (based on EE and EEPE). For securities financing transactions, maturity represents the notional weighted average number of days to maturity. Maturity is floored at one year and capped at five years except where the rules allow a maturity of less than one year to be used as long as certain criteria are met. For other products, the maturity is based on the contractual maturity.

The below table represent a summary of GSGUK's, GSI's and GSIB's credit exposure by IRB exposure class, as at June 30, 2016.

#### Table 5: IRB Approach Exposure Class

\$ in millions	As of June 201	
	EAD	RWA
Central Governments and Central Banks	\$ 24,617	\$ 9,594
Credit Institutions and Investment Firms	60,080	40,785
Corporates	74,505	41,867
Securitisation	38	26
Equity	472	1,746
Non-credit obligation assets	123	123
GSGUK Total Credit Risk	\$ 159,835	\$ 94,141
Central Governments and Central Banks	24,390	9,576
Credit Institutions and Investment Firms	59,288	40,390
Corporates	69,110	36,791
Securitisation	6	14
Equity	472	1,746
Non-credit obligation assets	117	117
GSI Total Credit Risk	\$ 153,383	\$ 88,634
Central Governments and Central Banks	227	18
Credit Institutions and Investment Firms	792	395
Corporates	5,395	5,076
Securitisation	32	12
Equity	-	-
Non-credit obligation assets	6	6
GSIB Total Credit Risk	\$ 6,453	\$ 5,507

Table 6 below shows our distribution of EAD and exposureweighted average risk weight by credit quality (PD band) as at June 30, 2016 across Wholesale exposure class and geography. EAD balances are shown post the application of Credit Risk Mitigation (CRM).

Table 7 below shows the distribution of our equity exposures as measured by risk weight for regulatory capital purposes.

#### Table 6: Credit Risk Wholesale Exposure by IRB exposure class and by PD Band

		Sovereigns	;		Institutions			Corporates <sup>2</sup>			
PD Band Range	EAD Post CRM \$m <sup>1</sup>	Exposure- Weighted Average Risk Weight %	RWA Post CRM \$m	EAD Post CRM \$m <sup>1</sup>	Exposure- Weighted Average Risk Weight %	RWA Post CRM \$m	EAD Post CRM \$m <sup>1</sup>	Exposure- Weighted Average Risk Weight %	RWA Post CRM \$m	Undrawn Commitments and Guarantees EAD	
0 to <0.05%	\$ 19,729	25%	\$ 4,896	\$ 9,994	24%	\$ 2,420	\$ 25,494	27%	\$ 6,897	\$ 183	
0.05% to <0.25%	4,716	95%	4,504	42,255	58%	24,345	39,720	40%	15,797	2,870	
0.25% to <0.75%	167	108%	180	6,212	149%	9,265	4,304	127%	5,458	617	
0.75% to <5.0%	-	-	-	930	224%	2,083	2,920	209%	6,098	193	
5.0% to <20%	5	270%	14	295	282%	832	1,038	297%	3,087	177	
20% to <100%	-	446%	-	394	467%	1,838	1,028	441%	4,531	8	
100% (default)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
GSGUK Total	\$ 24,617	39%	\$ 9,594	\$ 60,080	68%	\$ 40,785	\$ 74,505	56%	\$ 41,867	\$ 4,048	

Collateral is generally factored into the EAD for OTC derivatives and securities financing transactions using the IMM. 1.

Exposures to Qualifying Central Counterparties (QCCPs) with an EAD of \$13.2bn have been included in the Corporates exposure class. 2.

#### **Table 7: Simple Risk Weights for Equity Exposures**

\$ in millions	As o	of June 2016
	Total EAD	Total RWA
RW (370%)	472	1,746
GSGUK Total	\$ 472	\$ 1,746

#### Market Risk

#### Overview

Market risk is the risk of loss in the value of inventory, as well as certain other financial assets and financial liabilities, due to changes in market conditions. Categories of market risk include the following:

- Interest rate risk: results from exposures to changes in the level, slope and curvature of yield curves, the volatilities of interest rates, mortgage prepayment speeds and credit spreads;
- Equity price risk: results from exposures to changes in prices and volatilities of individual equities, baskets of equities and equity indices;
- Currency rate risk: results from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatilities of currency rates; and
- Commodity price risk: results from exposures to changes in spot prices, forward prices and volatilities of commodities, such as crude oil, petroleum products, natural gas, electricity, and precious and base metals.

Managers in revenue-producing units are accountable for managing risk within prescribed limits. These managers have in-depth knowledge of their positions, markets and the instruments available to hedge their exposures.

Market Risk Management, which is independent of the revenue-producing units and reports to the firm's Chief Risk Officer, has primary responsibility for assessing, monitoring and managing market risk at the firm. The firm monitors and controls risks through strong firmwide oversight and independent control and support functions across global businesses.

Managers in revenue-producing units and Market Risk Management discuss market information, positions and estimated risk and loss scenarios on an ongoing basis.

#### Market Risk Management Process

The firm manages market risk by diversifying exposures, controlling position sizes and establishing economic hedges in related securities or derivatives. This includes:

- Accurate and timely exposure information incorporating multiple risk metrics;
- A dynamic limit setting framework; and

• Constant communication among revenue-producing units, risk managers and senior management.

Our framework for managing market risk is consistent with, and part of, the GS Group framework, and results are analysed by business and in aggregate, at the firmwide, GSI and GSIB levels.

**Risk Measures.** Market Risk Management produces risk measures and monitors them against market risk limits set by the GSI and GSIB Risk Committees. These measures reflect an extensive range of scenarios and the results are aggregated by business at the entity level. A variety of risk measures are used to estimate the size of potential losses for both moderate and more extreme market moves over both short-term and long-term time horizons. Primary risk measures are VaR, used for shorter-term periods, and stress tests.

**Value-at-Risk.** VaR is the potential loss in value due to adverse market movements over a defined time horizon with a specified confidence level. A one-day time horizon with a 95% confidence level is typically employed. The VaR model is a single model that captures risks including interest rates, equity prices, currency rates and commodity prices. As such, VaR facilitates comparison across portfolios of different risk characteristics. VaR also captures the diversification of aggregated risk across GSI and GSIB.

Limits. Risk limits are used at various levels in GS Group (including entity, business and product) to govern risk appetite by controlling the size of its exposures to market risk. These are approved by the Risk Committee of the Board and the Risk Governance Committee (through delegated authority from GS Group's Firmwide Risk Committee). Limits for GSI and GSIB are set based on VaR and on a range of stress tests relevant to each entity's exposures. Limits are reviewed frequently and amended on a permanent or temporary basis to reflect changing market conditions, business conditions or tolerance for risk.

The GSI and GSIB Risk Committees set market risk limits for the company at an overall, business and product level. The purpose of the limits is to assist senior management in controlling the overall risk profile. Business level limits are designed to set the desired maximum amount of exposure that may be managed by any particular business on a day-today basis without additional levels of senior management approval, effectively leaving day-to-day trading decisions to individual desk managers and traders. Accordingly, business level limits are a management tool designed to ensure appropriate escalation rather than to establish maximum risk tolerance. Business level limits also distribute risk among various businesses in a manner that is consistent with their level of activity and client demand, taking into account the relative performance of each area.

Market risk limits are monitored daily by Market Risk Management, which is responsible for identifying and escalating, on a timely basis, instances where limits have been exceeded. The limits that are set by the GSI and GSIB Risk Committees are subject to the same scrutiny and limit escalation policy as the GS Group limits. When a risk limit has been exceeded (e.g., due to changes in market conditions, such as increased volatilities or changes in correlations), it is escalated to relevant risk committees and remediated by an inventory reduction and/or a temporary or permanent increase to the risk limit.

#### **Market Risk-Weighted Assets**

Trading book positions are subject to market risk capital requirements which are designed to cover the risk of loss in value of these positions due to changes in market conditions. These capital requirements are determined either by applying prescribed risk weighting factors, or they are based on internal models which are subject to various qualitative and quantitative parameters. The CRD IV market risk capital rules require that a firm obtains prior written permission from its regulators before using any internal model to calculate its risk-based capital requirement. As our permission applies to GSI and GSIB separately, we calculate model-based requirements as the sum across those entities.

Where relevant, RWAs for market risk are computed using the following internal models: Value-at-Risk (VaR), Stressed VaR (SVaR), Incremental Risk Charge (IRC), and Comprehensive Risk Measure (CRM), which for PRA purposes is called the All Price Risk Measure (APRM) and is subject to a floor. In addition, Standardised Rules, in accordance with Title IV of Part Three of CRD IV, are used to compute RWAs for market risk for certain securitised and non-securitised positions by applying risk-weighting factors predetermined by regulators, to positions after applicable netting is performed. RWAs for market risk are the sum of each of these measures multiplied by 12.5.

#### **Table 8: Market Risk Capital Requirement**

\$ in millions		as of Ju	ine 2016
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB
Regulatory VaR <sup>1</sup>	\$ 470	\$ 430	\$ 40
Stressed VaR <sup>1</sup>	1,378	1,218	160
Incremental Risk Charge	812	702	110
Comprehensive Risk Measure	222	222	-
Other <sup>2</sup>	1,236	1,119	117
Model-Based Rules	\$ 4,119	\$ 3,691	\$ 428
Interest Rate Risk	1,198	1,198	-
Equity Risk	345	345	-
Collective Investment Scheme Risk	40	40	-
Commodity Risk	113	60	-
Foreign Exchange Risk	469	341	81
Standardised Rules <sup>3</sup>	\$ 2,164	\$ 1,983	\$ 81
Securitisation	\$ 934	\$ 934	-
Total Market Risk Capital Requirement	\$ 7,217	\$ 6,608	\$ 509

 Regulatory VaR is subject to a regulatory multiplier that is set at a minimum of three and can be increased up to four, depending upon the number of backtesting exceptions. This result is further multiplied by 12.5 to convert into RWAs.

2. Predominantly relates to the Risks not in VaR (RNIV) framework, which capitalises additional market risks not fully covered in the VaR model.

3. GSGUK totals may include capital from other entities in the group in addition to GSI and GSIB.

#### Leverage Ratio

CRD IV, as amended by the European Commission Delegated Act (the Delegated Act), introduced a new leverage ratio, which compares CRD IV's definition of Tier 1 capital to a measure of leverage exposure, defined as the sum of assets less Tier 1 capital deductions plus certain offbalance-sheet exposures, including a measure of derivatives exposures, securities financing transactions and commitments. The Delegated Act does not currently include a minimum leverage ratio requirement; however, the Basel Committee has proposed a minimum requirement of 3%. Any required minimum ratio is expected to become effective for GSGUK on January 1, 2018. As of June 30, 2016, GSGUK had a leverage ratio of 3.9%. This leverage ratio is based on our current interpretation and understanding of this rule and may evolve as its interpretation and application is discussed with our regulators.

#### Table 9: Leverage Ratio

\$ in millions	as of June 2016			
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB	
Tier 1 Capital	\$ 29,736	\$ 25,961	\$ 2,683	
Leverage Ratio Exposure	762,662	746,230	16,416	
Leverage Ratio	3.90%	3.48%	16.34%	

The following tables present further information on the leverage ratio. Table 10 reconciles the exposure measure to the balance sheets of GSGUK, GSI and GSIB. Table 11 breaks down the exposures from on-balance sheet assets by trading and banking book. Table 12 gives further details on the adjustments and drivers of the leverage ratio.

#### Table 10: Summary Reconciliation of Accounting Assets and Leverage Ratio Exposures

\$ in millions		as of .	June 2016
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB
Total assets as per balance sheet	\$ 1,151,507	\$ 1,143,907	\$ 44,721
Adjustment for entities which are consolidated for accounting purposes but are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation	-	-	-
Adjustment for fiduciary assets recognised on the balance sheet pursuant to the applicable accounting framework but excluded from the leverage ratio exposure measure in accordance with Article 429(13) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 "CRR"	-	-	-
Adjustments for derivative financial instruments <sup>1</sup>	(421,847)	(417,228)	(4,299)
Adjustments for securities financing transactions <sup>1</sup>	21,570	21,646	-
Adjustment for off-balance sheet items 1	12,146	9,082	3,064
Adjustment for intragroup exposures excluded from the leverage ratio exposure measure in accordance with Article 429 (7) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 <sup>1</sup>	-	(9,023)	(26,882)
Adjustment for exposures excluded from the leverage ratio exposure measure in accordance with Article 429 (14) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013	-	-	-
Other adjustments	(714)	(2,154)	(188)
Total leverage ratio exposure	\$ 762,662	\$ 746,230	\$ 16,416

1. Differences between the accounting values recognised as assets on the balance sheet and the leverage ratio exposure values. A further breakdown of these amounts can be found in Table 12.

#### **Table 11: On-Balance Sheet Exposures**

\$ in millions		as of Ju	une 2016
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB
Total on-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives, SFTs, and exempted exposures), of which:	\$ 155,376	\$ 145,617	\$ 9,545
Trading book exposures	\$ 131,455	\$ 124,381	\$ 7,563
Banking book exposures, of which:	\$ 23,921	\$ 21,236	\$ 1,982
Covered bonds	-	-	-
Exposures treated as sovereigns	9,032	8,806	214
Exposures to regional governments, MDB, international organisations and PSE not treated as sovereigns	-	-	-
Institutions	5,257	4,735	182
Secured by mortgages of immovable properties	-	-	-
Retail exposures	-	-	-
Corporate	8,402	6,617	1,513
Exposures in default	-	-	
Other exposures	\$ 1,230	\$ 1,078	\$ 73

#### Table 12: Leverage Ratio Common Disclosure

\$ in millions		as of J	une 2016
	GSGUK	GSI	GSIB
On-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives and SFTs)			
On-balance sheet items (excluding derivatives, SFTs and fiduciary assets, but including collateral)	\$ 155,376	\$ 146,756	\$ 12,521
Asset amounts deducted in determining Tier 1 capital	(714)	(672)	(42)
Total on-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives, SFTs and fiduciary assets)	\$ 154,662	\$ 146,084	\$ 12,479
Derivative exposures			
Replacement cost associated with all derivatives transactions (ie net of eligible cash variation margin)	47,416	47,567	522
Add-on amounts for PFE associated with all derivatives transactions (mark-to-market method)	273,915	274,312	1,070
Exposure determined under Original Exposure Method	-	-	-
Gross-up for derivatives collateral provided where deducted from the balance sheet assets pursuant to the applicable accounting framework	-	-	-
Deductions of receivables assets for cash variation margin provided in derivatives transactions	(38,942)	(38,879)	(63)
Exempted CCP leg of client-cleared trade exposures	(7,147)	(7,147)	-
Adjusted effective notional amount of written credit derivatives	997,096	997,096	-
Adjusted effective notional offsets and add-on deductions for written credit derivatives	(906,825)	(906,825)	-
Total derivative exposures	\$ 365,513	\$ 366,124	\$ 1,529
Securities financing transaction exposures			
Gross SFT assets (with no recognition of netting), after adjusting for sales accounting transactions	244,403	247,423	28,381
Netted amounts of cash payables and cash receivables of gross SFT assets	(35,632)	(33,623)	(2,009)
Counterparty credit risk exposure for SFT assets	21,570	21,646	-
Derogation for SFTs: Counterparty credit risk exposure in accordance with Article 429b (4) and 222 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013	-	-	-
Agent transaction exposures	-	-	-
Exempted CCP leg of client-cleared SFT exposure	-	-	-
Total securities financing transaction exposures	\$ 230,341	\$ 235,446	\$ 26,372
Other off-balance sheet exposures			
Off-balance sheet exposures at gross notional amount	96,344	89,093	7,252
Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts	(84,198)	(80,011)	(4,188)
Other off-balance sheet exposures	12,146	\$ 9,082	\$ 3,064
Exempted exposures in accordance with CRR Article 429 (7) and (14) (on and off balance sheet)			
Exemption of intragroup exposures (solo basis) in accordance with Article 429(7) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (on and off balance sheet)	-	(10,506)	(27,028)
Exposures exempted in accordance with Article 429 (14) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (on and off balance sheet)	-	-	-
Capital and total exposures			
Tier 1 capital	29,736	25,961	2,683
Total leverage ratio exposures	\$ 762,662	\$ 746,230	\$ 16,416
Leverage ratio			
Leverage ratio	3.90%	3.48%	16.34%
Choice on transitional arrangements and amount of derecognised fiduciary items			
Choice on transitional arrangements for the definition of the capital measure	-	-	-
Amount of derecognised fiduciary items in accordance with Article 429(11) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013			

#### Factors impacting the Leverage Ratio

The leverage ratio has decreased in the period from 4.1% in December to 3.9% in June. This was driven by an increase in on balance sheet assets, particularly secured financing.

#### **Risk of Excessive Leverage**

The risk of excessive leverage is the risk resulting from a vulnerability due to leverage or contingent leverage that may require unintended corrective measures to our business plan, including distressed selling of assets which might result in losses or in valuation adjustments to our remaining assets.

The GSI and GSIB Asset and Liability Committees (GSI and GSIB ALCOs) are the primary governance committees for the management of the UK material subsidiaries' balance sheets. The GSI and GSIB ALCOs are delegated specific responsibility by the GSI and GSIB Risk Committees for maintaining leverage ratios in accordance with the levels expressed in each entity's risk appetite statement.

We monitor the leverage ratio as calculated above and have processes in place to dynamically manage our assets and liabilities. These processes include:

- Monthly leverage ratio monitoring is conducted for GSGUK, GSI and GSIB. Leverage ratio monitoring thresholds have been established for GSI and GSIB and reported to the respective ALCOs, CROs, CFOs, CEOs, Risk Committees and Boards depending on size of movement.
- Quarterly leverage ratio planning which combines our projected leverage ratio assets (on- and off-balance sheet) and Tier 1 capital of GSGUK, GSI and GSIB.
- Potential new transactions which could have a material impact on GSGUK's capital and/or leverage position are escalated to and approved by Controllers, Corporate Treasury and other managers from independent control and support functions.

## Cautionary Note on Forward-Looking Statements

We have included or incorporated by reference in these disclosures, and from time to time our management may make, statements that may constitute "forward-looking statements." Forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but instead represent only our beliefs regarding future events, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and outside our control. These statements include statements other than historical information or statements of current condition.

It is possible that actual results and financial condition may differ, possibly materially, from the anticipated results and financial condition indicated in these forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results and financial condition to differ from those indicated in the forward-looking statements include, among others, those discussed under "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A in the firm's Annual Report of Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. This can be accessed via the following link:

> http://www.goldmansachs.com/investorrelations/financials/current/10k/2015-10-k.pdf